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Abstract: In relation to the Turkish-Armenian conflict, one of the most
important issues on the agenda today is the question of abandoned Armenian
property. Members of the Armenian Diaspora are claiming compensation from
Turkey for those properties abandoned and/or confiscated to meet the
requirements of the army during the WW1. Armenians argue that they have a
strong and legitimate claim to receive reparation from Turkey and that the
Armenian entitlement for reparation has certainly not lapsed. The present
article, however, contends that the claims of the naturalized American citizens
of Ottoman Armenian origin are rather legally ungrounded in the light of the
1934-1935 Turkish American Agreement. Having studied the details of the talks
and evaluated the contents of all files submitted to the State Department for
compensation, the author concludes that Turkey agreed to pay $1.300.000 for
compensation in 13 installments. However, this figure alone shows that
Armenian claims were found rather exaggerated by the State Department.
Moreover, the fact that the State Department asked the Turkish government not
to continue the payment after the 9th installment demonstrates blatantly that
eligible Armenian claimants were indeed quite a few.
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Introduction

In relation to the Turkish-Armenian conflict, one of the most important issues
on the agenda today is the question of abandoned Armenian property. Diaspora
Armenians have been claiming compensation from Turkey for those properties
abandoned, and/or confiscated to meet the requirements of the army.1 The
Armenians express their claims on all platforms and have written various books
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on this issue.2 Although these claims frequently being discussed among organs of
the press and media on whether they are just or legally valid, insensitivity towards
this significant issue continues in Turkish historiography. However, until 1933,
claims for damages were one of the most important issues between Turkey and the
US waiting to be resolved. Despite this, it is quite thought-provoking that the issue
has not been addressed in books focusing on the relations between Turkey and the
USA and has even been treated as if it never existed until a doctoral dissertation
published last year.3 However, an American researcher named Roger R. Trask, by
determining that the compensation agreement between Turkey and the USA was a
very important matter, had dedicated quite a lot of space for the issue in his book
published in 1971.4 This article will address the process of negotiation and
consequences of the compensation agreement signed in 1934 between Turkey and
America.5

Abandoned or Confiscated Properties and Compensation 

One of the other most important issues discussed during the First World War in
relation to the relocation of Armenians was Emval-i Metruke (Abandoned
Property), meaning the assets of the relocated Armenians which they left behind. It
is known that various statutes have been adopted during the relocation of the
Armenians which made regulations concerning the properties, assets and debts left
behind and their liquidation.. The most significant of these regulations are the ones
made on May 30 and 10 June 1915. With these statutes, putting under government
protection the properties, assets and abandoned lands of the Armenians relocated
somewhere else was demanded. Article 2 of the regulation dated 30 May 1915,
consisting of 15 articles, states that “the displaced Armenians could take all their
belongings and live stocks together with them.”6 On the other hand, the statute of
June 10, consisting of 34 articles, which contains the essential regulations regarding
the properties left behind, puts forth in detail how the properties and assets
belonging to the relocated Armenians will be taken under protection and based on
which principles they will be liquidated. One of the most noteworthy articles of this
is the 3rd one. In this article, the type, quantity, value and names of the owners of
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the properties taken under protection are to be registered in detail; they will be
transferred to suitable places of storage, such as churches, schools, and inns, in such
a way that their ownership is distinct, laid out separately and with care shown for
their protection. More importantly, it indicates that “the original of the records
showing the amount, value, owners and the places of safe custody of the properties
will be given to the local administration, while a copy will be issued to the Emval-
i Metruke (Abandoned Properties Commission). In article 5 of the same regulation,
it has been expressed that with fragile items and animals among the properties to
be moved, these will be sold by auction by a board designated by the Commission,
with the equivalent in value being deposited in property safety boxes, under name
in those cases in which the owners are known, and under those of the village or
small town for cases in which they are not known. In article 22 related to the
assessment of the revenues obtained as a result of liquidations, it is demanded that
sum amounts collected from sale or rent are to be deposited in safety boxes in the
name of the owners and are to be paid to them after appropriate application has
been made. All of these implementations have aroused hopes among the displaced
individuals in receiving compensation for their properties. 

Thus, it is understood that the government
carried out sincere efforts to return the properties
and assets of the Armenians who had returned to
their territories at the end of the war. Articles 3,
10 and 11 of the decrees adopted on December
18, 1918 concerning the return of the displaced
Armenians wanting to come back clarifies the
issue of returning of properties, assets and other
fragile goods. In article 3, it is clearly stated that the immovable properties will be
handed over to those who will return.7 Article 10 of the same decree indicates that
the properties devolved to the treasury must be returned with the approval of
District Revenue Officer. The most important matter regarding the process of
returning was the homes and lands assigned to immigrants. However, the decree
has made it compulsory that even the properties sold to immigrants would be
returned upon the claim of the real owner. 

Since the process of returning Armenian properties and problems encountered are
outside the subject of this article, we do not intend to delve into details. Moreover,
although some difficulties were encountered during the restoration of the properties
and assets assigned to Muslim refugees, recent studies have clearly suggested that
the government persistently returned the goods to their original owners.8 Due to the
lack of studies, it has not been fully determined how many people benefitted from
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the process of returning. However, one of the most interesting points which should
be emphasized here is that those who left the country without permission would not
be allowed to benefit from the law about returning of properties and assets.9

Therefore, for various reasons, an uncertain situation has developed in the
liquidation of properties of individuals who did not return to their home after World
War I or who acquired citizenship of another country. Thus, the settlement of the
issues of those individuals in this situation would only be possible through
international agreements. 

As a matter of fact, the liquidation of the properties and assets left behind by
Ottoman citizens of Armenian origin who had fled to the Caucasus was attempted
to be resolved through the Treaty of Gyumri (December 2nd 1920). With article 6
of the Treaty of Gyumri, those Armenians who did not enter an armed struggle
against the Ottoman State or who did not participate in the atrocities were permitted
to return to their homes. As in civilized countries, these individuals would be able
to benefit from the rights of minorities. Article 7 of the same treaty stipulates that
within a year of the ratification of the treaty, those not returned to their homes
would lose their rights.10 However, this treaty could not be implemented due to the
disposition of the Dasnaksutyun by the Soviet Union. Then, the issue of the
liquidation of the abandoned Armenian properties was tried to be resolved through
the Treaty of Kars (October 13, 1921).11 With the article 14 of the treaty, the parties
decided to conclude an agreement within six months concerning refugees, but even
if this agreement had ever been concluded, it has not come to light. Looking at the
statements being reflected on discussions of the Assembly, it could be understood
that a period until March 1922 has been set for the Armenians to return to their
homes.12

On the other hand, the Armenians returned to the south eastern part of Turkey
region and possessed their properties, completely left the country upon the
withdrawal of the French from the region. Their abandoned properties and assets
then became a national issue. When the abandoned properties and assets of the
Armenians became the subject of random confiscation, the government felt it
necessary to end this practice. On April 20, 1922, with the law adopted by the
Turkish Grand National Assembly (TGNA) entitled “Memalik-i Müstahsaladan
firar ve gaybubet eden ahalinin emval-i menkule ve gayrimenkullerinin idaresi
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hakk›nda kanun” (Law on the administration of movable and immovable properties
of the community who fled or remained absent), the selling of the abandoned
properties with an auction and its price being deposited in the subdivision of
treasury was made a law. If the Armenians would return, the amount would be paid
to them.13

We believe that one of the most important articles of this law is article 5. In this
article, it was written that the abandoned properties of those fleeing due to war
conditions or political reasons were also within the scope of this law. Moreover, it
was also stated in the law that those who illegally confiscated properties would
submit the movable and immovable properties to the government within one week
(Article 3). This way, the TGNA Government implemented the legal regulations
concerning the properties left behind by the Armenian Ottoman citizens. Enacting
the law was not easy at all, because millions of Muslim refugees had also fled and
abandoned their properties in the Balkans, but none of the Balkan countries had
introduced a similar law for the restitution of their properties. Therefore, some
deputies had supported the confiscation of the abandoned properties and assets.
Furthermore, it should be emphasized that with the issuing of the law, very few
non-Muslims were able to reclaim their properties, because most of the Armenians
had already left the country. However, the process of liquidation continued under
the conditions put forth by the law. The necessity to conclude international treaties
in order for those leaving the country to reclaim their abandoned properties or their
values emerged. 

Eventually, the issue was frequently brought to the agenda during the Lausanne
Conference. In the commissions in which minority rights were discussed in
particular, with the pressure of those migrating from Turkey, allies sought for the
compensation of the abandoned properties. As a result of discussions, Turkey
declared that it would only recognize the operations made under the protection of
Allies between 30 October 1918 and 20 November 1922.14 This way, Turkey was
contented with the operations of the occupation forces towards the immovable
abandoned properties but the essential problem remained unsolved. This situation
disturbed the USA where the great number of non-Muslim citizen of the Ottoman
Empire had migrated. The USA America concluded a separate treaty with Turkey
during the Lausanne Conference. Within this framework, it initiated talks with
Turkey concerning the compensation of the abandoned properties of their own
citizens. 
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The Beginning of Negotiations for Compensation between Turkey and the
United States of America

It is understood that the request for discussion of the compensation issue came from
the American delegation. Armenian organizations increased their activities during
the Lausanne Conference and pressured the American delegation to hold talks with
the Turkish delegation about the compensation for their properties left behind in
Turkey. Moreover, the American Board for Foreign Missions, which had
significant investments in Turkey, was also requesting from the American
delegation to negotiate for the protection of their investments. On the other hand,

Turkey sought to conclude an agreement with the
US delegation for the establishment of diplomatic
relations for which all problematic issues had to be
sorted out. However, the American delegation
wanted to include the issue of compensation in any
treaty to be concluded with Turkey. On the other
hand the Turkish delegation expressed that
addressing this issue separately would be more
appropriate. Eventually, the two sides reconciled
on the Turkish view and after the signing of the
Treaty of Lausanne15 between Turkey and the US,
they agreed for talks on the issue of compensation
to start 20 days later.16

The reason for the US acceptance of the postponement of the talks was that the
claims filed for compensation were so many that the US was not able to classify
and prepare them. On the other hand, Turkey insisted on the submission of the files
to be classified in detail and on negotiating them under main headings.17 For this
reason, the US took a step back and the talks were only able to start on November
7, 1923, with a delay of 93 days.18 During the talks, the United States was
represented by G. Howland Shaw and Edgar W. Turlington under the chair of Rear
Admiral Mark Bristol, while the Turkish delegation was chaired by the Istanbul
representative of the Foreign Ministry, Abdulhak Adnan (Ad›var), with two other
representatives namely Münir (Ertegün) and Ibrahim Bey.19

At the end of the talks, the two sides agreed on the establishment of a commission
to address the issue of compensation. With the exchange of notes on December 24,
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1923, this agreement came into force.20 In this note, it is stated that 6 months after
the mutual exchange of documents with regard to the ratification of the Turkish-
American Treaty of Lausanne by the parliaments a commission would convene in
Istanbul consisting of two American and two Turkish members.21 This commission
was to examine the files concerning the claims and to reach a conclusion within six
months.22 However, as is known, the Turkish-American Treaty of Lausanne was
rejected in the US Congress. Upon this development, the signatory parties agreed
that the talks concerning the claims would not be suspended. Within the framework
of a “modus vivendi” regarding the establishment of diplomatic relations between
Turkey and the United States on February 17, 1927, it was agreed that the exchange
of notes in Istanbul in relation to the claims would be implemented and a
commission would be established.23 According to the reconciliation reached, if the

Treaty of Lausanne in the US Congress would not be ratified until June 1, 1928 the
Commission would gather six months after the exchange of ratification of a
commercial convention and a convention of establishment and residence. Finally,
six months after the agreements were implemented on February 15, 1933, the
Commission convened on 15 August 1933 in Istanbul.24 This time, the Turkish
members of the commission were fievki Bey and Esat Bey, while the American
members were G. Howland and Julian E. Gillespie.25

How the Commission functioned and the Discussions proceeded 

After the commission gathered, the parties held preliminary talks on which
principles the talks proceeded. As a result of evaluations, the State Department has
concluded that many vague and unfounded claims existed in the dossiers. “Based
upon its experience in settling other groups of claims by such means as claims
commissions, the Department is convinced that the development and presentation
of these claims to an international Commission for adjudication would require the
employment of a commission and a large staff of attorney by both parties over a
period of years. The Department feels that in the light of the many doubtful
elements involved in these claims the expense that would be incurred by a
consideration of each case individually would be out of proportion to the sums
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finally adjudicated.”26 Moreover, this task would take a long time and would be
highly costly. Therefore, the State Department argued that “The Turkish
Government is just as anxious as the Government of the United States to avoid a
lengthy claims settlement of this kind.”27 For this reason, the State Department
expressed to the Turkish side that the American Government is prepared to accept
in full payment of the claims of all of its nationals a sum representing a moderate
percentages of the total claims.”28 By this offer the Statement Department argued
that this would accelerate the works of the commission. 

Actually, the State Department believes that a majority of the claims were not based
on legal grounds. It could be understood that it is for this reason that the State
Department has carried out such an initiative. Eventually, in a telegraph sent by the
Secretary of State, Cordell Hull to the Chargé in Turkey, Howland Shaw, it was
requested that the Commission should refrain from revealing to the Turkish
authorities the existing lists of the classified dossiers in which the claims were
categorized. Because, The State Department was aware of the fact that a large
section of these claims were not “supportable in international law or as to the
amount of damages properly claimed in those cases in which international
responsibility may be established.”29

In other words, the compensation dossiers of the US delegation had not yet reached
maturity.30 However, since the dossiers had been submitted to them two years ago,
the commission sent a letter to the claimants in order for them to obtain evidence
which would support their allegations. In this letter, it was also asked for those
intending to submit no further evidence or wishing to withdraw their request files
to inform the Department. Regarding the content of these letters, an extensive
activity of informing was conducted in various languages including the foreign
media organs, and therefore, 750 additional claim dossiers were passed on to the
Department. However, the Department was unable to classify these dossiers
according to the amount of compensation and their numbers. Furthermore, it was
believed that with the dossiers received later on, the amounts claimed had increased
by a couple of million of dollars.31

A total of 1880 dossiers had been submitted to the State Department. These dossiers
were gathered in two groups. In the first group, the amount of compensation claims
was stated in the dossiers and although not certain, was 24.150.000 dollars in total.
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In the second category of claims, the amount was in foreign currency and was
approximately 12.075.000 dollars. Therefore, the total amount of compensation
being claimed was 36.225.000 dollars. Adding the claims for compensation
existing in the 750 dossiers received later on, the total amount had reached
approximately 55.000.000 dollars. The US commission would use this figure
against the Turkish Government as the total calculation of the claims, but during
the first talks to be held, would start the bargain for the lump sum from 10% of this
amount with 5.000.000 dollars. The instructions issued by the State Department to
the commission had recalled the unwilling approach of the Turkish side towards
paying compensation to naturalized American citizens of Ottoman origin and
indicated that it could be asked from them for the number of individuals in this
category and the amount of the claims. Yet, within the light of the classification of
the dossiers, providing this kind of information was impossible. Moreover, the US
was not yet able to determine how many of the claims came from the former
American nationals of Ottoman origin. However, preparations for a list were
continuing and as soon as it was completed, it would be issued to the commission. 

In the instruction sent to the commission on April 4, 1933 by the State Department
which was evaluating these ambiguities, it was suggested that the commission be
reconciliatory and constructive during the talks held with the Turkish Government.
Taking into consideration the economic situation of Turkey, it was expressed that
the US was ready to reach an agreement on a reasonable settlement, but that the
Turkish Government must also approach the question in the same spirit of good will
and conciliation. The US did not want the talks to end due to the reactions that
could arise in American public opinion. For this purpose, the US commission
would frequently remind the Turkish side that the establishment of the commission
and its operation were within the framework of the agreements between the
countries. Again based on the same instruction, the commission would insist on the
paying of a lump sum and the negotiations would start with a request of 5.000.000
dollars. Furthermore, meeting the claims of American nationals of Ottoman origin
would be requested and the commission would try to obtain a written justification
in case the Turkish side resisted. 

As can be seen, the US commission had a very weak hand in terms of the content
of the dossiers. Therefore, they aimed to settle the compensation issue by obtaining
an appropriate lump sum without going into details of the dossiers. Shaw, the
chargé in Turkey, who chaired the commission, would express his discomfort with
these ambiguities in a telegraph written to the Department and would request
authorization at least to state that the majority of the claims were for purposes of
requisition and confiscation when information was requested concerning the
content of the claims of the Turkish Government. Moreover, the undersecretary
also asked for authorization to state that the US would be willing to consider the
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payment of lump sum in installments.32 In the reply received from the State
Department, it was expressed that in case the Turkish Government persistently
asked for details on the content of the files, it was requested to be indicated that an
important section of the claims was related to the requisitions and confiscations
(requisition for the use of the army) executed by the Turkish army and civil
bureaucracy during the years 1914-1922. The issue of installments, on the other
hand, was to be used as a trump card for bargain.33

Within the framework of these new instructions, in order to determine the
position of Turkey, Shaw met with Foreign Minister Tevfik Rüfltü Aras on May
8, 1933 in Ankara. In this meeting, Tevfik Rüfltü Bey indicated that he
personally leaned towards compromising on a lump sum, but that without
considering the scope of the claims, reconciliation could have political and legal
difficulties. In a second meeting, Tevfik Rüfltü Bey told Shaw that he discussed
the matter with Ismet Pasha and, Ismet Pasha stated that without Government’s
having further information concerning the claims no progress would be achieved
on the issue of lump sum. Tevfik Rüfltü Bey requested a list of the compensation
dossiers from the Undersecretary and for each file, asked for the following
information: 

1. The name and birth place of the claimant 

2. Amount of compensation

3. The nature and reason of the compensation request

4. The date of act or event giving rise to claim and the reason of the lawsuit

5. Evidences 

Although these requests seemed easy, they were difficult demands for the US
commission to fulfill, because the files of the commission were missing. Shaw
expressed that as long as these requests remained on the table, progress was
difficult to achieve. On the other hand, the Turkish side continued to ask for a list
of the claims. In a meeting held with Shaw, Tevfik Rüfltü Bey said that he asked
this list not for discussing claims one by one in the commission. However, he added
that they also did not blindly want to determine a lump sum. By observing the files
and claims, the Turkish side wanted to form an opinion about the amount being
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requested.34 Even more, Prime Minister Ismet Inonu asked Shaw, the Chargé in
Turkey: “Does the US want to turn Turkey into a country in debt?”35

Upon the insistence of the Turkish side, Shaw requested at least a part of the list
from his Department. The Department indicated that the list could not be made
available to them before July 1. While the negotiations were proceeding in a
difficult manner, a telegraph sent by the Turkish Foreign Ministry to the US on
June 27, 1933 made the task of the American side more difficult. When the event
being the subject of compensation was experienced, Turkey had stated that the
claims of the Ottoman citizens could not be
discussed in the commission and that unarguably
again it would discuss compensation for the
naturalized US citizens. In fact, according to the
Turkish laws, when the event subject to
compensation was experienced, the children of
individuals whose parents were Ottoman citizens
were considered to be citizens also. However, the
majority of American requests belonged to those
acquiring US citizenship without the permission
of the Ottomans and according to US laws, permission from another country was
not required to acquire citizenship.36 A problem between the two countries which
dated back a long time in history had appeared once again on the agenda.37

Furthermore, it could be understood that by ignoring this issue, the US started
negotiations. Because when the negotiations started on August 15, 1933, the US
delegation had prepared three lists to be presented to the Turkish side. In the first
list, there were 95 request files which belonged to US citizens and to those who
have never acquired Ottoman or Turkish citizenship. According to their own
statements, the claims in this list were based on firm evidences. In the second list,
280 request files existed and were still in the process of content analysis. The third
list consisted of 1504 files and the claimants were still US citizens who had been
Ottoman citizens previously. The total number of files in the three lists was 1880
and the amount of compensation being claimed was 55 million dollars. The US
delegation was aware that only the files in the first list met the conditions being
requested by the Turkish side. Therefore, the US was consent to take only 10% of
the requested total compensation amount. Moreover, it argued that discussing each
file separately would only be an unnecessary waste of time and source.38
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Actually, the Turkish side also had a positive look on the idea of paying a lump
sum. Eventually, in November 1933, the Turkish Foreign Minister informally
notified to the US ambassador that they could offer 500.000 dollars for lump sum.39

Meanwhile after the negotiations had started, when the Turkish delegation
submitted to the US delegation the results of their review of the files in the first list,
a very big surprise appeared. The Turkish commission had made the following
evaluations concerning the files which the specialists of the State Department
examined separately and which were alleged to be based on firm evidences: 

1) The claimants in some files are recorded as Turkish citizens. For example,
Basil C. Coumoulis has personally applied to the Muhtelit Mübadele
(Mixed) Commission by asserting that he was a Turkish citizen in order to
regain his properties on the basis of the articles of the Treaty of Lausanne.
(In this example, it could be understood that Coumoulis had not informed
the US commission that he was a Turkish citizen). 

2) A great number of the claimants have expressed that they do not possess
evidences which would support their claims. (The numbers of the files
within the category of requisition and confiscation are given). 

3) The claims in the files have been determined unilaterally by the owners of
the files. These requests are far-fetched. For instance, the requested amount
of compensation for an ordinary mill found in the small village on the border
Igdir and 400 tons of grain is 442.000 dollars. 58.500 dollars is requested for
a small house in Igdir.

4) Similarly, the claims are inconsistent and exaggerated. For example, instead
of the requested 2600 dollars for the properties expressed in the petition
delivered to the Mixed Commission by Basil C. Coumoulis, 26.100 dollars
has been claimed in the file issued to the US delegation, meaning that he has
claimed an amount which is ten times too high. 

As can be seen, members of the Turkish commission worked hard on the lists and
files submitted by the US and stated that their proposal of 500.000 dollars of lump
sum in 10 installments was reasonable. Moreover, in Turkey’s proposal, it was
expressed that prolonging the negotiations and delaying a settlement would be
contradictory to the interests of both sides and the requested amount of
compensation of the US was not accepted. 

39 FRUS 1934, VOL. 2, p. 902. From American Ambassador Skinner to the Acting Secretary of State . 21.11.1933.
Compare. Trask, American Response, p. 202.
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41 FRUS 1934, VOL. 2, p. 907-909. From the Acting Secretary of State Philips to the Ambassador in Turkey Skinner.
13.01.1934.
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It could be understood from the reports submitted by the US delegation to their
leaders that these evaluations of the files weakened US’s position in the
negotiations. Despite this, in the meeting with fievki Bey in Ankara on December
30, 1933, Shaw stated that Turkey’s proposal was very low and completely
unacceptable. According to Shaw’s allegation, the files were legally strong and
even the compensation claims by US companies whose documents were very
convincing amounted to 15.000.000 dollars. Again, according to Shaw, even the
requested compensation of MacAndrews and Forbes, asserting that their assets
seized during war, amounted to 2.000.000 dollars and had very strong evidences.
The total amount in the similar 21 files was 7.000.000 dollars. In the light of these
examples, Shaw must have wanted to show fievki Bey that they had a strong hand.
In response, fievki Bey noted the given examples and indicated that he would get
them to be examined as soon as possible.40

Meanwhile, in a telegraph sent to Ambassador Robert P. Skinner by the State
Department on January 13, 1934, it was asked for the unofficial talks to continue
until February 15, 1934 on which the negotiations would start again. Moreover, it
was suggested that the delegation be persistent in their compensation request and if
necessary, to negotiate over the documents. Then, it was expressed that the
numbers of nationals of non-Ottoman origin who had applied to the commission
had reached 500 in number and the amount of compensation requested by them had
reached 20.500.000 dollars. In another instruction given to the delegation, it was
requested that when the negotiations started on February 15, 1934, they would
convince Turkey to sign an agreement or protocol without delay. The most striking
new proposal in the text of this agreement or protocol, the draft of which was
submitted, was the claims on which a compromise can not be reached to be taken
to Switzerland’s arbitration.41

It is clear that Turkey had a positive outlook on this initiative of the US, because
the Turkish side reviewed US’s draft and submitted their text on February 4,
1934.42 It was stated in this suggestion that in order to successfully determine the
amount of lump sum, all dossiers should be submitted to them and the claims upon
which arbitration was necessary could be evaluated after this. In other words,
Turkey did not object to the files, which became an issue of disagreement, to be
arbitrated under the refereeing of Switzerland. In response to this proposal, US
Ambassador Skinner stated that they wanted the negotiations to result in
reconciliation as soon as possible, because examining claims individually and
sending the controversial ones to arbitration would be a great loss of time and
would be quite costly for both sides. Moreover, in a telegraph sent to the US State
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43 FRUS 1934, VOL. 2, p. 909-910. From American Ambassador to the US Secretary of State , 04.02.1934.

44 FRUS 1934, VOL. 2, p. 910. From Skinner to the Secretary of State . 8.02.1934.

45 FRUS 1934, VOL. 2, p. 911.From Hull to Skinner.

46 FRUS 1934, VOL. 2, 912. From the Secretary of State to Skinner. 23.03.1934.

47 The jurists newly attending are Francis M. Anderson, John Maktos and John W. Connely (Jr). See: Bulut, ibid.,p.
175.

48 In the report of Fred K. Nielsen, the date of appointment as president of commission is given as 12 February 1934.
See: Fred K. Nielsen, American-Turkish Claims Settlement under the Agreement of December 24, 1923, and
supplemental agreements between the United States and Turkey. Opinions and report prepared by Fred K. Nielsen.
In accordance with the Act of March 22, 1935m 49 Stat. 67 U. S. Government Printing Office, Washington, 1937,
p. 7. 

49 Trask, American Response, p. 204.

50 Trask, American Response, p. 205. According to Trask’s research on the special file of Nielsen, the embassy had not
given him secretariat and Skinner had not accepted to see him. 
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Department, Skinner stated that he was extremely fearful that the issue be sent to
an arbitrator. This shows that US’s proposal to go to an arbitrator was a bluff and
that it was surprising that Turkey did not object.43 Following these developments,
Skinner wanted the Turkish side to slightly increase their proposal for
compensation. In response, the Turkish side maintained their stance and
persistently expressed that they wanted the files and arbitrated lists to be submitted
to them and that they would only accept the claims of the US citizens being
addressed in the commission.44

In a telegraph sent to Skinner by the State Department on February 10, 1934, it was
expressed that to a great extent Turkey’s proposals were acknowledged and the
commencing of negotiations was accepted according to these principles. The State
Department only objected to Turkey’s insistence to keep the discussions confined
only to US citizens.45 Turkey conditionally abandoned its insistence. In the first
phase, talks would be holding on the lump sum without raising nationality question
and if a compromise could not be reached, the content of the dossiers would be
examined, but only the US citizens’ claims for “the losses sustained in Turkey”
would be evaluated. The United States of America accepted the first phase of this
two-step negotiation proposal, but asserted that they could not differentiate or bring
a geographical limitation between the citizens according to the protocols which
compromised a basis for negotiations.46

Following this development, the number of US commission members was
increased and new lawyers were included.47 The most noteworthy change was that
Mr. Shaw was replaced by, a famous lawyer Fred K. Nielsen48 who had conducted
the compensation talks between the US and Mexico.49 This change could be
interpreted as the US wanting to conclude the talks under the leadership of an
experienced name as soon as possible. However, the disagreements within the
American delegation and Shaw’s attitude towards Nielsen considerably
complicated Nielsen’s duty.50
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51 FRUS 1934, VOL. 2., p. 913-18. From the Secretary of State to the American Commissioner on the Turkish-
American Claims Commission Nielsen. July 13, 1934.

52 Nielsen, Claims Settlement, p. 15. 
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Eventually, the talks starting again on March 21, 1934 were quite efficient. It could
be seen that the suggestions in the last letter of instruction sent to Nielsen could be
effective here. In this letter of instruction, Nielsen was told to seek a compromise
for a lump sum before evaluating each file separately but if this was not possible to
discuss the protocol or agreement whose draft was submitted. It was stated that if
the Turkish side insisted on evaluating each file separately, it might have been
accepted grudgingly. Another point was that Turkey’s proposal of 500.000 dollars
as a lump sum was very low and unacceptable. The State Department desired the
process to end before dragging on too much and this very important question
between the two countries to be settled as soon as possible. Therefore, initiative
was given to Nielsen and he was instructed to be
able to withdraw the files whose evidences
seemed inadequate during the negotiations. The
sole issue which the US would not make a
subject of discussion was the separation of the
conditions of the American nationals of Ottoman
origin.51 However, as mentioned above, this
issue was partially covered up with the lists
prepared on the basis of citizenship and had at
least prevented the obstruction of the talks.
Therefore, based on the agreement reached on 13
July 1934, the claims of those American nationals of Ottoman origin were also
included within the scope of the agreement. Since the parties decided on continuing
negotiations on a lump sum, the compensation to be received would encompass all
compensation dossiers.52

Thus, under these conditions, the sides hold very effective talks during the five
month period between March-August 1934. Turkey did not bring the question of
citizenship to the table and the US did not specify an amount for compensation.
Nielsen reported his observations concerning the talks and claims to the State
Department with a writing dated August 14, 1934 under the following main
headings:

1. “Serious cases” amounted to approximately 12,099,994.18 dollars.

2. “Prima facie but unconvincing cases” amounted to 1,419,614.60 dollars. 

3. Cases amounted to 1,366,242.32 dollars. It is thought within the scope of the
Turkish Legal System that these were related to the abandoned properties.
(The claims in this category are suspended for the present so that the
American delegation could examine this legal system). 

Therefore, based on the
agreement reached on 13
July 1934, the claims of

those American nationals
of Ottoman origin were
also included within the
scope of the agreement.
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53 FRUS 1934, VOL. 2. p. 921. Attachment 2. From Nielsen to the US State Department. 16.08.1934.

54 In his letters written to his companions, Nielsen wrote that he disliked the Turks and their behaviors and conveyed
his discomfort with the talks extending. Trask, American Response, p. 205.
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4. “Insignificant cases” amounted to approximately 49,347.78 dollars. (These
claims, few in numbers, would have little or no bearing on a lump sum
settlement). 

5. Cases which are in abeyance in order to allow the Turkish delegation to
make some investigations amounted to 905,953.47 dollars.

6. “Non-serious cases” amounted to approximately 1,665,026.36 dollars.
(According to the decision taken unanimously by the commission, this
category contains claims which are without basis of law). 

7. A large number of cases (approximately 600) found legally groundless by
the American commission after a cursory examination. A list of these claims
was submitted to the Turkish Delegation. 

8. A small number of cases concerning the problems of Turks and Americans
having dual nationality. 

In his evaluation regarding the process of negotiation, which took part in his
déclarations verbales dated to August 16, 1934 and submitted to the State
Department, Nielsen stated that even if the controversial dossiers were taken out
from the approximate 2500 files presented to the commission, the amount of
compensation in the serious files was 15.841.150 dollars. He also added that the
low percentage 15% of this amount which would be close to the sum of 2.500.000
dollars was reasonable.53 By this way, for the first time an American official
expressed half of the compensation amount claimed in the beginning. On the
contrary, after Turkey had insisted for a long time on its original proposal, it took
a step back upon Nielsen proving that the claims were just by showing some cases
one by one as an example. Based on Nielsen’s report written for the Ministry on
September 5, 1934, Esat Bey indicated that Turkey’s proposal could increase all the
way up to 700.000 dollars. By accepting that the claims were one sided and
exaggerated, Nielsen reduced it to 1.500.000 dollars and declared to Washington
that they could not propose a lower amount. Moreover, he also mentioned in his
report the possibility for the Turkish side to raise its proposal to 1.000.000 dollars. 

Nielsen, who claimed that no progress was made in the negotiations, expressed to
the Turkish side that if no agreement was reached on the amount, they would be
ready to examine each file individually as indicated during the beginning of the
negotiations.54 Upon this development, after a long time, fievki Bey attended the
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55 FRUS 1934, VOL. 2. pp. 930-31. From the Secretary of State Hull to the Consul at Istanbul Elting. 20 September
1934. Compare: Trask, American Response, pp. 207-08.

56 FRUS 1934, VOL. 2. p. 931. From Nielsen to the Secretary of State. 21.09.1934. 

57 FRUS 1934, VOL. 2. p. 932. From the Secretary of State Hull to the Consul at Istanbul Elting.

58 Düstur, 3. Tertip, VOL. 16, pp. 490-92. T.R. Official Gazette, January 2, 1935, p. 4616-17. For the full treaty see:
Attachment 2.
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commission meeting on September 19, 1934 and proposed to pay 1.200.000 dollars
in 12 installments annually. Nielsen was willing to accept this proposal. He stated
that the majority of the claims were exaggerated, evidences were inefficient, too
much time would be lost if each file was negotiated, and that considering the
economic conditions the country was in, and the acceptance of this proposal would
be to the benefit of both countries’ interests. Undersecretary Shaw also expressed
that he was for the acceptance of the proposal. However, in the response received
from the State Department, it was asked that the amount of compensation to be
slightly raised and negotiations to take place for the installments to be paid in five
years. Furthermore, it was indicated that considering the 3% interest rate in the 12
year payment term, Turkey’s proposal equaled 995.400 dollars. Therefore, the State
Department declared that an agreement should be reached on 1.500.000 dollars or
an interest which would bring total payments approximately up to this figure should
be added. However, Nielsen was also granted the authorization to accept the
proposal if Turkey would not make any concessions.55 When Nielsen discussed the
situation with fievki Bey, he told him that they could not pay more than pay more
than 100.000 dollars a year. By indicating to the State Department that the
economic conditions of the country should not be overlooked, Nielsen asked for the
proposal to be accepted. However, he also stated that due to the installments
extended over a long period, he could try to get interest on deferred payments.56 In
the last meeting hold with fievki Bey, Nielsen said that he accepted the proposal of
the US on the condition that an interest of 2.5% would be paid. On the other hand,
fievki Bey proposed to pay without interest 100.000 dollars with a term payment of
13 years, thus a total of 1.300.000 dollars.57 America finally accepted this proposal. 

“Mütekâbil Metâlibin Tesviyesine Mütedair ‹tilafnâme” (Agreement Concerning
the Mutual Claims Settlement) or Turkish-American Claims Settlement 

Upon negotiations coming to an end and reaching an agreement on the conditions
of the settlement, the agreement whose official name was “Agreement Concerning
the Mutual Claims Settlement” was signed on October 25, 1934. The agreement
was signed by Deputy of Izmir and Minister of Foreign Affairs Tevfik Rüfltü (Aras)
on behalf of Turkey and Fred Kenelm Nielsen on behalf of the US President. The
entire agreement consisted of three articles:58
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1. The Government of the Republic of Turkey will pay to the Government of
the United States of America the sum of 1.300.000 (one million three
hundred thousand dollars), without interest, in full settlement of claims of
American citizens which are embraced by the Agreement of December 24,
1923. Payment of this sum will be made in thirteen annual installments of
100.000 (one hundred thousand dollars). Payment of the first installment
will be made on June 1, 1936; following the ratification of the present
Agreement by the Grand National Assembly of Turkey. 

2. The two Governments agree that, by the payment of the aforesaid sum, the
Government of the Republic of Turkey will be released from liability with
respect to all of the above-mentioned claims formulated against it and
further agree that every claim embraced by the agreement of December 24,
1923, shall be considered and treated as finally settled. 

3. The present agreement shall be effective from the date of its signature,
subject to the ratification of the Agreement by the Grand National Assembly
of Turkey. 

Done in Ankara on twenty-fifth day of October, nineteen hundred and thirty-four in
two copies each in the Turkish and English languages, which are equally authentic. 

Since in the United States’ case the agreement had a characteristic regarding the
execution, it was not submitted to the ratification of the Senate. On the other hand,
the Turkish Grand National Assembly ratified the agreement as a result of the
voting on December 23, 1934. In addition to this agreement, another agreement was
signed for the payment by the Turkish Republic to the United States of America of
23.824.86 dollars spent by America in order to protect the interests of the Ottoman
citizens in the US in 1914-1917. According to this agreement, the amount would
again be paid in 13 annual installments.59 The date for the first installment was set
as June 1st 1936.60

Scope of the Claims Settlement 

As can be seen, this agreement foresaw that a lump sum be paid in order to
completely meet the claims of Turkish American citizens. Here, it is very important
that the agreement of December 24, 1923 is referred to, because in these protocols
which have also come to the agenda during the negotiations and acted as a basis of
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agreements, the former citizenships of the owners of claims were questioned. This
situation decreed that it was decided for a lump sum to be paid in order to meet all
the claims of the agreement. In other words, the US requested the claims settlement
to be applied to all its citizens and gathering the claims of all Greeks, Armenians
and Jews who had acquired American citizenship and bringing them before the
commission was an indication of United States’ desire. According to American
laws, a person could acquire US citizenship without the consent of their country. In
this context, it is natural to gather all claims without making any differentiation
between US citizens. Therefore, in the claim lists of United States of America, there
are 1900 dossiers belonging to US citizens of Ottoman origin.61 For this reason,
Turkey opposed the US addressing the claims of former Ottoman citizens
throughout the negotiations.62 Thus, after Nielsen was appointed to the
commission, he kept those whose citizenships were controversial, beyond
evaluation, but did not bring them completely outside the agreement.63 Anyhow,
since the talks started taking place on the lump sum and the term to submit to the
commission the files belonging to contentious citizens was to be expired on
February 15, 1934, the talks did not come to a deadlock. Therefore, the State
Department gave a list of the owners of these kinds of claims to the commission,
but by not submitting the files within the set time, it seems that they found a
midway. 

Thus, according to Nielsen, the agreement was signed in order to settle all the
claims. In his report concerning the agreement, Nielsen indicated: “while, as has
been explained, the Commission did not consider these claims of naturalized
citizens of Turkish origin, the Agreement of October 25, 1934 concluded by the two
governments was framed to effect a final settlement of all outstanding claims of the
nationals of each country against the other, and it was for that reason that there was
incorporated in the Agreement article II.”64

Furthermore, it should be highly emphasized that the general perception in Turkey
was that the US requested compensation on behalf of all those they considered
citizens and concluded an agreement. In the news published in Turkish press after
the agreement was signed, it was expressed that in order to compensate for the harm
and damages of US citizens for their properties confiscated during the First World
War, Turkey was to pay compensation to United States of America. For instance,
in the news in Cumhuriyet newspaper, it was written that “compensation was
claimed for the properties which were belonging to American citizens and
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65 “Amerikal› Emlaki”, Cumhuriyet, 14 October 1934, p. 5.
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67 Nielsen, Claims Settlement, 22. Compare: Trask, American Response, p. 200. Bulut, Atatürk Dönemi, p. 171.
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confiscated during the First World War… the commission which had examined the
list prepared by America decided on the payment of a fixed compensation.”65 The
Hakimiyeti Milliye newspaper published the same news by stating that “the
commission verified the claims of the harmed Americans and decided on the
payment of a fixed amount to the American Government in exchange for this
damage.”66 The point which draws attention here is that in both articles, how much
compensation had been paid was not indicated. Why this important information did
not appear in the news could only be a matter of speculation within the light of the
information known. 

On the other hand, other points existed also in Nielsen’s report which put forth that
compensation claims had been made without taking into consideration the issue of
citizenship. According to this, the claims in the dossiers presented to the US
commission could be expressed as follows:67

1. Confiscated claims whose value has not been compensated by the Turkish
soldiers or civil offices

2. Claims for the destruction, looting, and the robbing of properties by soldiers
in an unnecessary and disproportionate manner 

3. Those concerning the violation of human rights by Turkish civil and military
offices (like false imprisonment and beating)

4. Claims concerning the negligence of officials in showing the necessary
efforts regarding the prevention of the damages that could be brought to
human rights or properties 

Moreover, the US Government agreeing to compromise on a very low proportion
of what they claimed and the reactions of Armenians and Greeks after the
agreement was signed68 makes one think that America only concluded a Claims
Settlement for those whose citizenships were not debatable in response to Turkey’s
attitude. However, as explained above, Nielsen’s report disregards this possibility.
In his evaluation of the agreement, Trask stated that the agreement encompassed all
claims. Moreover, according to Trask, the amount of compensation was not
determined according to the claims, but according to Turkey’s capacity to pay.
Nielsen recognized that the prolonging of the work of the Commission was due to
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69 In a letter to Foreign Minister Hull, Nielsen said that after 1911, Turkey entered into four international wars, lost
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the inability of Turkey to pay the compensation, therefore, Nielsen favored a
settlement which would be payable by Turkey.69 In the news in American
newspapers concerning the agreements, it was expressed that the compensation was
signed in response to the claims of American citizens.70

The files which were left outside the scope of the agreement and which the Turkish
side completely denied to negotiate were the following: 1) claims arising from the
burning of the city of Izmir, 2) claims emerging as a result of relocation, 3) claims
regarding the abandoned immovable properties in Turkey, 4) claims ensuing
outside the territories of Turkey.71

Individuals Gaining the Right to Receive Compensation 

After the Claims Settlement was ratified by the American Congress on March 22,
1935, Nielsen opened a bureau in Washington
and indicated those gaining the right to receive
compensation. Nielsen specified the names of
those owning the files submitted to the
commission, the amount of compensation
claimed and its legal interest one by one
meticulously. He left most of claims out of its
scope on the grounds that they were fake or did not have enough evidence.72

According to the last report written by Nielsen in 1937, only 33 claims were found
to be worthy of receiving compensation.73 The sum of these claims, including main
cash and interest, was 899.338.09 dollars. The largest part of the compensation,
including interest of 260.870.96 dollars was received by Mac Andrews and Forbes
Company. This company was followed by the missionary organization of the
American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions which received a total of
191.583.48 dollars. Then, respectively, Socony-Vacuum Oil Company (150.131.89
dollars), the American Tobacco Company (42.938.25 dollars) and Singer Sewing
Machine Company (51.087.69 dollars) followed.74

The sum of these claims,
including main cash and
interest, was 899.338.09

dollars.
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According to the list prepared by Nielsen, after the payments were made, 70.891.06
dollars was set aside for the works of the commission in Turkey and for Nielsen’s
expenses. However, when the lists received their final form, it became clear that the
amount of compensation to be paid to those deserving it was 400.661.91 dollars,
which is lower than the amount Turkey was to pay. Upon Nielsen’s suggestion, the
US decided to declare to the Turkish Government that the debt was lower and four
installments would be paid. Accordingly, the installments would end in 1944 rather
than 1948. Turkish Ambassador Münir Ertegün was called to the Foreign Ministry
and the new payment plan was declared to him on condition that it would remain
confidential between the two governments. The reason for this confidentiality was
the constraint from the protests of those whose claims were not accepted. While
Nielsen explained the situation to Secretary of State Hull upon the amount to be
paid by Turkey being lower, he said that “This deed would serve in a measure to
salvage the honor of the United States so shamefully prostituted by the wholesale
misrepresentations made to the Government of Turkey.”75 This deed of the US had
affected Turkey’s ambassador deeply and according to the statement of Wallace
Murray, chief of the Division of Near Eastern Affairs of the State Department, tears
ran down the eyes of the ambassador when he received the news and said that “he
is unable to express his feelings of appreciation towards the generosity, just
behaviour and honesty of the US Government and that this moment is the happiest
day of his career.”76 In his book, while Trask evaluated Nielsen’s appointment to
the commission, he also stated that Nielsen disliked the Turks. However, in his
report, Nielsen had expressed that when evaluating the studies of the commission
before he was appointed, he said that “in the agreement… initiatives were taken in
order to obtain money in great amounts from a poor nation through a great pack of
lies.”77

Conclusion

This Claims Settlement signed between Turkey and the United States of America,
eliminated an important obstacle between Turkey and the US which had been a
problem since 1923 and had caused a tension in relations. Turkey has displayed its
goodwill and determination to establish friendly relations with the US by paying
compensation which was considerable. On the other hand, the United States of
America has showed its willingness and determination to develop relations with
Turkey by signing the Agreement which fell short of their original compensation
claims. By taking into consideration the economic conditions, which Turkey was in
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during the negotiations, the US has always made concessions on the amount of
compensation. This claims settlement has been signed in order to end all claims
between the parties. It is very meaningful for the US to sign this agreement despite
the protests of about 1900 Armenian and Greek claimants. The report written by
Nielsen in 1937, regarding the process of agreement, starkly puts forth how unjust
the claims were and how they lacked legal basis. In his report, Nielsen has clearly
indicated that the claims of US citizens of Turkish origin were one-sided,
exaggerated, unjust, and legally groundless. 
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Attachment 1. Text of the transcription regarding the decree towards
establishing a commission on claims 

Türkiye Cumhuriyeti Ankara

Bafl Vekâlet

Kalem-i Mahsus Müdiriyet

Aded: 102

Kararnâme

24 Kânun-› evvel 923 tarihiyle ‹stanbul murahhasl›¤›na tevdi k›l›nan Amerika
Sefareti’nin ber-vech-i zîr takriri, ‹cra Vekilleri Heyeti’nin 6/1/340 tarihli
ictima›nda ledel-k›rae keyfiyet tasvib edilmifl ve Hariciye Vekâleti’ne tebligat-›
icras› takarrür etmifltir. 

“Amerika ve Türkiye teb’as›n›n metâlibât-› mütekabilesi suret-i mes’ulesinin
atiyyen tezekkür olunmas› hakk›nda 6 A¤ustos 923 tarihiyle Lozan’da teati k›l›nan
mektublara tevfikan 10 Teflrin-i evvel 923 tarihinden beri ‹stanbul’da vuku’bulan
mübahasât neticesi olarak hususât-› atiyeyi zât-› âli-i (…) ibla¤a hükümetim
taraf›ndan mezun bulundu¤umu beyan eylerim.

“fiöyle ki: Amerika ve Türkiye aras›nda münasebât-› umumiyeye dair olarak 6
A¤ustos 923 tarihinde Lozan’da imza k›l›nan muahede tasdiknâmelerinin
teatisinden alt› ay sonra ‹stanbul’da in’ikad edecek bir heyete ika olarak iki
mümessil tayini hususunda hükümetim, Türkiye Cumhuriyeti hükümeti ile
müttefiklik eder. Heyet-i mezkûre bu münasebâta verilecek suret-i tesviyeyi tayin
etmek maksad›yla iki hükümetin biri veya di¤eri taraf›ndan heyetin teflekkülünden
itibaren alt› ay müddet zarf›nda dermiyan olunarak metâlibinin tedkikine ibtidar
edilecektir. Metâlib dosyalar› her talebin nev’i, menfle ve esasa müstenid
bulundu¤unu mübeyyin evrak› ihtiva edecektir. F›kra-i ahirede mussarrah alt› ay
müddet sonra dermiyan edilen metalibe terdif olunmay›p da bu metalibe taalluk
eden evrak, heyete teflekkülünden nihayet bir sene zarf›nda tebli¤ edilecektir. Bu
suret-i tesviyenin tesbit buyuruldu¤u ifl’ar k›l›n›rsa minnettar olurum”.

6/1/340

Türkiye Reis-i Cumhuru 
Gazi (imza)
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Maliye Vekili Hariciye Vekili Dahiliye Vekaleti Vekili Adliye Vekili 
‹mza ‹mza ‹mza ‹mza

Müdafaa-i Milliye fier’iye Vekili Baflvekil Mübadele, ‹mar, 
Vekili ‹mza ‹mza ‹skan Vekili
‹mza ‹mza

Erkân-› Harbiye-i S›hhiye ve ‹ktisad Vekili Nafia Vekili
Umumiye Muavenet-i ‹mza ‹mza
Vekâleti Vekili ‹ctimaiye Vekili
‹mza ‹mza

Maarif Vekâleti Vekili
imza
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Attachment 2: The Agreement signed between the Republic of Turkey and the
US on 25 December 1934. Düstur, 3. Tertip, C. 16, p. 490-92.
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Attachment 3: List of claims submitted to the commission.
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Attachment 4. 
Those gaining the right to receive compensation and the amount received.
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